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          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning. I'm

          3  Council Member Leroy Comrie. I chair the Committee

          4  on Rules, Privileges and Elections. Today we have

          5  before us two candidates who can come forward and

          6  sit at the two chairs here. Mr. Gregory Charles

          7  Soumas and someone named Christopher Collins. If

          8  they can come forward. You can sit at the first

          9  chair, Mr. Soumas. Chris can sit five rows back.

         10  Just kidding. Just kidding.

         11                 First is Mr. Gregory Charles Soumas,

         12  a registered Democrat from New York County. He is

         13  being recommended for appointment by the New York

         14  County Democratic County Committee to be a member of

         15  the New York City Board of Elections. A certificate

         16  of party recommendation referencing Mr. Soumas was

         17  properly field with the clerk of the Council. If

         18  appointed, Mr. Soumas will be serving the remainder

         19  of a four-year term that began on January 1st, 2005

         20  and ends on December 31st, 2008. Mr. Soumas will

         21  replace Douglas Kellner who has resigned from the

         22  City's Board of Elections to become a member of the

         23  State Board of Elections.

         24                 Second, Christopher Collins, a

         25  resident of Manhattan, has been recommended by the
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          2  Mayor for appointment as Commissioner of the New

          3  York City Board of Standards and Appeals. Should Mr.

          4  Collins receive the advice and consent of the

          5  Council, he will fill a vacant position on board.

          6                 Mr. Collins will be eligible to

          7  complete the remainder of a six-year term that

          8  expires on September 1st, 2009.

          9                 The reporters are making noise.

         10  They're having a bad day about noise. It's

         11  interesting.

         12                 Anyway, Mr. Soumas, let's take you

         13  first.

         14                 The New York City Board of Elections

         15  consists of ten commissioners, two from each of the

         16  City's five counties, who are directly appointed by

         17  the New York City Council. Not more than two

         18  commissioners shall be registered voters in the same

         19  county. Each commissioner serves a term of four

         20  years or until a successor is appointed.

         21  Commissioners shall be registered voters from each

         22  of the major parties in the county for which they

         23  are appointed.

         24                 The Board and its commissioners are

         25  responsible for the maintenance and administration
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          2  of voting records and elections. The Board also

          3  exercises quasi-judicial powers by conducting

          4  hearings to validate nominating petitions or

          5  candidates, for nomination to elective office.

          6                 The Board is required to make an

          7  annual report of its affairs and proceedings to the

          8  New York City Council no later than the last day of

          9  January in any year. A copy of said annual report

         10  shall be filed with the New York State Board of

         11  Elections. The Board elects a president and a

         12  secretary who cannot be from the same political

         13  party. The commissioners receive $125 per diem for

         14  each day of attendance, at meetings of the Board or

         15  any of his commissioners, with the maximum of

         16  $12,500 per year.

         17                 At this point, Mr. Soumas, if you

         18  could raise your right hand and be sworn in, please?

         19                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

         20  or affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         21  Committee is the truth and the whole truth?

         22                 MR. SOUMAS: Yes.

         23                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please state your name

         24  for the record.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If you can touch
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          2  the button. When the red light is off, the mike is

          3  on. It's counter-intuitive. Thank you.

          4                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you. The witness

          5  is sworn.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, Mr. Soumas.

          7  Good morning.

          8                 Do you have any prepared remarks that

          9  you'd like to share with us?

         10                 MR. SOUMAS: I do not.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Please proceed.

         12                 MR. SOUMAS: I said I do not.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, you said not?

         14                 MR. SOUMAS: Not.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, you said not.

         16  I do not. Okay. All right.

         17                 Well, okay, let me introduce the

         18  members that are present which I have not done.

         19  Council Member Christine Quinn, from Manhattan,

         20  Council Member Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn, Council

         21  Member David Weprin from Queens, Council Member

         22  Melinda Katz from Queens, Council Member Diana Reyna

         23  from Brooklyn, Council Member Madeline Provenzano

         24  from the Bronx, Council Member Majority Leader Joel

         25  Rivera is in the room, and Council Member Hiram
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          2  Monserrate is in the room also.

          3                 And Council Member Gale Brewer is

          4  arriving. We'll open up with Council Member

          5  Christine Quinn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. I

          7  just want to say to my colleagues, Greg is a very

          8  active member of the community, civic community and

          9  political community in Manhattan. He unfortunately

         10  doesn't have the privilege of living or serving in

         11  my district, but is well served by my Council Member

         12  to the north, Gale Brewer. And I just want to say

         13  for my colleagues, Greg is somebody who is a

         14  democratic district leader but has been involved

         15  working on behalf of tenants in his neighborhood and

         16  really the entirety of the west side of Manhattan

         17  for many, many years. He's someone who I have had

         18  the privilege of knowing and working with on a

         19  million different electoral and issue campaigns, and

         20  he's someone who I think would be a terrific

         21  appointment to the Board of Elections, would serve

         22  our borough and our City very, very well, and I hope

         23  my colleagues will support him, and I know he will

         24  do well by all of us and continue the professional

         25  and thoughtful and distinguished leadership and work
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          2  he has done to date on behalf of his neighborhood

          3  borough and City. There was no real question.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Any other

          5  members?

          6                 Council Member Brewer, do you want to

          7  make a statement?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I'm

          9  not a member of this Committee, but I wanted to also

         10  echo the words of Council Member Quinn about Greg

         11  Soumas, and state that he has been an intelligent

         12  district leader, intelligent leader in our

         13  community, and as the issue of high stakes voting

         14  continues in terms of how we as New Yorkers and as a

         15  State and City will vote, the issue of democracy

         16  with a capital and a small D, will be paramount.

         17  And, so, we look forward to Doug Kellner's very

         18  impressive leadership being continued, and I know

         19  that Greg Soumas, a resident of the west side, but

         20  also somebody who will represent all of us, his

         21  leadership will be extraordinary and we look forward

         22  to his appointment.

         23                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I

         25  appreciate the comments of Council Members Quinn and
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          2  Brewer regarding Mr. Soumas, but I am curious to

          3  hear how his own mind thinks, and since he did not

          4  deem to honor this Committee with an opening

          5  statement, I'm a little aggravated to say the least.

          6  I think that the least you could have done is,

          7  especially with so many people that had recommended

          8  you, to at least give the Committee a sense of your

          9  focus and desire to serve on the Board of Elections.

         10                 Mr. Kellner was an active and

         11  proficient committee member, as the commissioner of

         12  Board of Elections, as evidenced by the fact that

         13  he's being promoted or to say, and given an

         14  opportunity to serve us in the State. His desire to

         15  make sure that the Board of Elections was an active

         16  and proactive agency that dealt with the issues of

         17  the day made it a pleasure for him to come before

         18  the Government Operations Committee which I served

         19  on, and, frankly, I find it a little insulting that

         20  you don't have at least something to say to the

         21  Committee.

         22                 MR. SOUMAS: Well, if I may, Mr.

         23  Comrie? May I address that?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         25                 MR. SOUMAS: I certainly meant no
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          2  offense, and I simply was not prepared to make an

          3  opening statement. If I may, however, you mentioned

          4  Doug Kellner, who I've known for many years, had has

          5  been appointed to be the State Commissioner, I would

          6  not consider myself his replacement but really his

          7  successor. The Help America Vote Act is going to

          8  restructure the way elections are conducted in this

          9  State, and it makes the State position much more

         10  important and will require a great deal of attention

         11  even at the local levels.

         12                 I have been an attorney, a litigator

         13  for the last 16 years, and I do commercial

         14  litigation, and I also do Election Law, which

         15  involves various matters of litigation. I have been

         16  involved politically for many years. I'm a native

         17  New Yorker and I believe that my expertise

         18  translated into public service as commissioner of

         19  the Board of Elections would improve the position. I

         20  think it is presumptive to say that anybody will

         21  step into Doug Kellner's shoes, given his years of

         22  experience and do as good a job as he, but I believe

         23  that given my experience, my years training and

         24  practice, that I can step in as well as anybody and

         25  serve the residents and citizens of this County and
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          2  the City of New York.

          3                 As most people are aware, several

          4  hundred million dollars will be spent in this State

          5  on new voting systems. We're all familiar with the

          6  actual mechanical voting machines which have been

          7  dinosaurs for quite a long time but will now

          8  actually become extinct and new voting systems will

          9  be in place.

         10                 It is the job of the Board of

         11  Elections, as well as the Voter Assistance

         12  Commission and the Campaign Finance Board to

         13  administer elections but also to educate voters on

         14  the use of these machines, whatever machines they

         15  may be because as yet they have not been selected.

         16                 The compliance with the statute is

         17  mandated by December 31st of this year, and that's

         18  not going to happen. So, at whatever point it does

         19  happen, it's going to happen on an intense basis,

         20  and all three of the agencies that I mentioned are

         21  going to have a great deal of work to perform.

         22                 Inasmuch as I've been involved with

         23  New York City politics for many years, one of the

         24  major concerns has always been the disenfranchising

         25  voters. And voters have been disenfranchised for a
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          2  lot of reasons. Whether it's a language barrier,

          3  whether it's a technology barrier.

          4                 In many years there had been long

          5  lines and people just couldn't wait because they had

          6  to go to work or some other pressing personal

          7  matter, or simply they didn't want to wait, which I

          8  think is somewhat of an abomination to not

          9  participate in the democratic process, because

         10  you're simply inconvenienced by waiting in line to

         11  vote when as we all know, New Yorkers will wait in

         12  line to go to a movie or to go to dinner, but they

         13  won't wait in line to vote.

         14                 But notwithstanding all of that, it

         15  is the job of the City agencies to make it easier

         16  for everybody to vote and to participate in the

         17  process.

         18                 And I believe that my years of

         19  training and my experience will allow me to best and

         20  to well serve the people of the City of New York in

         21  this position.

         22                 And, again, I meant no disrespect to

         23  the Chair or to any members of this Committee, and I

         24  apologize if, in fact, I did.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, again, I
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          2  want to emphasize that you have been highly

          3  recommended and it's a tradition of the Committee to

          4  understand the candidate, and in order to understand

          5  the candidate, we need to have some interaction from

          6  the candidate's own words, as opposed to the

          7  platitudes that are given from other people.

          8                 And Mr. Kellner was a very critical

          9  component of the City's Board of Elections, and I

         10  hope that you understand that the Board of Elections

         11  is in a very critical period, but they have to come

         12  up and actually create an opportunity to do an

         13  entire new system under a lot of pressure, that a

         14  lot of it is not under their control, and it's going

         15  to require a lot of effort and work on behalf of the

         16  commissioners to try to figure out how to create

         17  that system in a short period of time, when all of

         18  the opportunities to control it, if issues are not

         19  really under their purview. And today is not the day

         20  to unfortunately have long meetings or long

         21  hearings, that's another reason why I was hoping you

         22  would have a profound opening statement so we could

         23  move forward.

         24                 But that being said, the Speaker of

         25  the Council is here, and he would like to vote
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          2  because I know he has plenty of things to do today.

          3  We've been also joined by Council Members Melinda

          4  Katz.

          5                 Mr. Speaker, would you like to vote?

          6                 SPEAKER MILLER: I would. I would like

          7  to vote aye. I think these are two outstanding

          8  candidates, and I'm proud to support them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Speaker.

         11                 Any other questions for Mr. Soumas?

         12  All right, we'll move forward.

         13                 Okay, with that I'd like to call the

         14  meeting closed and thank everybody, and have a good

         15  day. No?

         16                 All right, then we'll move on to

         17  Chris Collins.

         18                 You have a question for Mr. Soumas?

         19  Okay, Council Member Clarke.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 Mr. Soumas, I just wanted to ask a

         23  question of you.

         24                 This year we've had an opportunity to

         25  interact with a number of individuals who have come
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          2  up for appointment or reappointment to the Board of

          3  Elections.

          4                 In the interim between those

          5  appointments we've had a number of instances where,

          6  actually we have one really high profile instance

          7  where there was some concerns around the treatment

          8  of employees of the Board of Elections, and some

          9  really negative interactions among employees. While

         10  I recognize you're a Board member, there's an

         11  Executive Director, the one thing I realized in that

         12  whole equation of what was taking place at the

         13  Board, was that it didn't appear as though the

         14  members of the Board were given direction to the

         15  Executive Director, and by extension setting a tone

         16  for the staff there.

         17                 And these were really inflammatory

         18  statements that were taking place both racially and

         19  genderwise within the agency itself.

         20                 Would you give us an indication of

         21  what role you think you would be able to play were

         22  these types of behaviors to resurface in the future?

         23                 MR. SOUMAS: Well, I'm not sure

         24  exactly which instance you're speaking of, but --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Well, you
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          2  weren't on the Board at the time and actually it was

          3  in the newspapers.

          4                 There was an employee there named

          5  Pamela Green Perkins, and she had been receiving

          6  really threatening notices from another employee of

          7  the Board, both really inflammatory in terms of her

          8  gender, with the type of interaction that was taking

          9  place, basically sexual harassment, and included in

         10  the harassment was a real negative description of

         11  her based on her race. And I didn't get the feeling

         12  during that period of time that there was a

         13  concerted effort on behalf of not only the Executive

         14  Director there, but the Board of Directors, the

         15  commissioners, to really readjust, retune, and set a

         16  tone of no tolerance within the agency.

         17                 And I know that it's a very diverse

         18  agency, but I found it really quite alarming and,

         19  quite frankly, so yesterday, that in the 21st

         20  Century that type of inflammatory behavior and

         21  language would be surfacing in an entity that is to

         22  serve the people of the City of New York.

         23                 So, just your thoughts on that.

         24                 MR. SOUMAS: My personal position is

         25  that certainly in the private sector any incident
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          2  that creates a hostile work environment cannot be

          3  tolerated. And I think that in public service I

          4  think an even higher standard, if possible, should

          5  be maintained.

          6                 I agree that it happening is

          7  disserving, and my personal position is that it

          8  should be tolerated.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I just want to

         10  let you know, Mr. Soumas, that that person is still

         11  working for the Board of Elections, so there's an

         12  endemic problem in the culture there that I would

         13  hope that you would seriously take an opportunity to

         14  change after you're on the Commission. That person,

         15  after all of that incident, is still working for the

         16  Board of Elections, which tells me that the culture

         17  hasn't changed, that what they did was prima facia

         18  at best and is really an insult to the diversity of

         19  the staff there, and that's something that we

         20  planned on taking up again in the budget hearings

         21  that will be coming up in the beginning first

         22  quarter of this year.

         23                 So, there's an endemic problem at the

         24  Board of Elections with how they treat employees,

         25  and I hope that can be part of your purview as a
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          2  person who was recommended by Council Member Brewer

          3  and Council Member Quinn, I would hope that you

          4  would have the ability to change that culture.

          5                 We don't have any housekeeping issues

          6  with you. You have been a good citizen of New York,

          7  so therefore we're going to move on to the next

          8  person, who has been a long-time member of this

          9  body, in the capacity of working in the Land Use

         10  Committee, and that is Mr. Chris Collins.

         11                 As I said earlier, Mr. Chris Collins.

         12  Chris Collins is going to serve on the Board of

         13  Standards and Appeals which consists of five

         14  commissioners, each appointed by the Mayor for a

         15  term of six years. The City Charter provides that

         16  one of the Board's members shall be planner with

         17  professional qualifications and at least ten years'

         18  experience as a planner. One of the Board members

         19  shall be a registered architect and shall have at

         20  least ten years experience as an architect, and one

         21  of the members shall be a licensed professional

         22  engineer and shall have at least ten years'

         23  experience as an engineer.

         24                 The particular qualifications of the

         25  two remaining members are not delineated in the

                                                            19

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  charter. The Mayor designates one of the members

          3  with the required experience of an architect,

          4  planner or engineer to serve as chair, and

          5  designates another member to serve as vice chair. In

          6  the absence of the chair, or in the event that the

          7  vacancy exists in the office of the chair, the vice

          8  chair acts as chair of the board. No more than two

          9  members may reside in any one borough.

         10                 Each member of the Board receives a

         11  salary and may not engage in any other occupation,

         12  profession or employment. The Chair earns an annual

         13  salary of $160,217, the vice chair receives a salary

         14  of $147,084 annually, while the remaining members

         15  earn annual salaries of $127,308.

         16                 I think we might want to do a shift

         17  in this meeting at the moment.

         18                 The Board has the power to determine

         19  and vary the application of the Zoning Resolution,

         20  and to issue special permits as authorized by the

         21  zoning resolution. The Board may also consider

         22  appeals to vary or modify any rule or regulation or

         23  the provisions of any law related to the

         24  construction, use, structural changes, equipment,

         25  alteration or removal of buildings or structures, or
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          2  vaults in sidewalks appurtenant thereto, where there

          3  are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship

          4  in carrying out the strict letter of the law, so

          5  that the spirit of the law should be observed,

          6  public safety secured and substantial justice done.

          7                 Mr. Collins, do you still want to

          8  raise your right hand to be sworn in?

          9                 MR. COLLINS: Yes, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

         11  or affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         12  Committee is the truth and the whole truth?

         13                 MR. COLLINS: I do.

         14                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please state your name

         15  for the record.

         16                 MR. COLLINS: Christopher Collins.

         17                 MR. O'MALLEY: Witness is sworn. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can we have the

         20  Sergeant-At-Arms open a window? And we've been

         21  joined by many Council Members. I'll start in the

         22  back, Council Member Tish James, Minority Leader

         23  Jimmy Oddo, Council Member Michael McMahon, and

         24  Council Member Dennis Gallagher, Council Member Lew

         25  Fidler, Council Member David Yassky, Council Member
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          2  Kendall Stewart. I said Tish. Council Member-elect

          3  Dan Garodnick is here. I'm always mangling your last

          4  name, I hope I'll fix that soon.

          5                 Okay, Mr. Collins, do you have

          6  prepared remarks for the Committee?

          7                 MR. COLLINS: Briefly. I'd just like

          8  to thank you and the Committee staff for the work

          9  done in preparing my background check for this

         10  hearing. I also would like to thank City Planning

         11  Chair Amanda Burden, Deputy Mayor Dan Doctoroff, the

         12  Mayor's Office staff and the DSA staff for their

         13  assistance in expediting this appointment.

         14                 As you know, I've been the Land Use

         15  Council here for 13 years, and I think I have gained

         16  experience that can be very helpful at the Board of

         17  Standards and Appeals. I've learned a great deal

         18  about the many neighborhoods in New York City,

         19  mostly from you. And I thank you for that. And I

         20  look forward to having you come and testify before

         21  the VSA in the future, where I will have the gavel.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Ohhh, you heard

         23  that, members, right?

         24                 We have many people that would like

         25  to speak, but I think we should start with the Chair
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          2  of the Land Use Committee, Council Member Melinda

          3  Katz.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman. I clearly have been working with the

          6  Counsel to the Land Use Committee, Chris Collins,

          7  for the last four years. I highly recommend his

          8  approval to my colleagues. I have no doubt that as

          9  each one of us worked through the last four years in

         10  our districts for different applications of

         11  rezonings, UDAAPs, site selections and everything

         12  that has come before us, that Mr. Collins has been a

         13  help I would say throughout the entire City of New

         14  York. He has been intricate in deciding and working

         15  with us in making sure that this City thrives, at

         16  least while I have been chair, but I know previously

         17  as well through his experience, and I think he'll be

         18  a great addition and asset as Commissioner of BSA. I

         19  find him to be very even-handed. As a Council we all

         20  rely on BSA in our districts. We don't have a direct

         21  role in it, and sometimes that is troublesome. I

         22  count on the fact that Chris will be there. I know

         23  that he'll be accessible to every Council member who

         24  calls. He knows each one of us personally. He knows

         25  our staffs. And I do think he'll be a great
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          2  addition. On a personal note, I would like to thank

          3  him for his friendship and his guidance.  Throughout

          4  the last four years, I learned quite a bit from him.

          5  And I thank him for that, and I wish him luck at the

          6  BSA.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Minority Leader

          8  Oddo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman. I, too, would just like to add for the

         11  record my thoughts about Chris and my well wishes

         12  for him. You know, in this era of overdevelopment,

         13  any time there is a Land Use matter, it engenders

         14  lots of emotions and angst and anger at times, and

         15  it's great to have somebody on staff with the

         16  equanimity of Chris Collins. I think for all of us

         17  who attended law school and we had to find out, try

         18  to find out who this reasonable man was that they

         19  always used, this standard reasonable man, I think

         20  Chris Collins comes the closest to that. And in the

         21  seven years that I dealt with him as a staffer and

         22  the seven years I dealt with him as a Council member

         23  he treated me the same way, with a great deal of

         24  respect. And if you mention Chris's name, I think

         25  the other words to follow are classy and dignified
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          2  and gentleman, and informed, and accessible. And

          3  it's a bittersweet day. I know he's moving on to

          4  bigger and better things, but I think this is really

          5  a tough day for the Council because he's been a

          6  wonderful, wonderful part of this institution for a

          7  very long time, and I just want to thank him on a

          8  personal level. Those of us on Staten Island take up

          9  an inordinate amount of time of the Land Use staff

         10  and the Land Use Committee, and we're all

         11  appreciative every step along the way. You've been

         12  such a wonderful friend to us, Chris, and I wish you

         13  nothing but the best. And I get the sense we will be

         14  seeing you, those of us from Staten Island will be

         15  seeing you in your new capacity and God bless.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Chair of the

         17  Health Committee, Council Member Quinn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. You

         19  know, I have had, a little bit like Jimmy, the great

         20  honor, I've served working with Chris as fellow

         21  staff people, as a Council member and staff, and

         22  then in between when I was staff and being Council

         23  member, Chris continued his help to me when I was at

         24  the New York City Gay and Lesbian Anti-Violence

         25  Project, Chris literally, and his partner Bob,
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          2  opened up their summer homes on a yearly basis and

          3  held a big fundraiser in Fire Island for AVP. And

          4  what he did in that regard was much like what he

          5  does for us on a regular basis on Land Use, you

          6  know, you would get to the fundraiser, everything

          7  would be taken care of, the food would be made,

          8  decorations would be up, the extra tacky jewelry for

          9  everyone to be over-accessorized was there. Bells,

         10  baubles and beads, was that the --

         11                 MR. COLLINS: Bangles, baubles and

         12  beads.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Bangles,

         14  baubles and beads was the theme of the party, and it

         15  raised a lot of money every year for the good work

         16  that the Anti-Violence Project does.

         17                 And I've also been lucky enough to

         18  have Chris as a constituent for the entire time I've

         19  been in the Council, and a neighbor in the same

         20  building. I will even tell the story that when Chris

         21  was volunteering for me in 1999, he was so committed

         22  and so hard-working he broke his foot running around

         23  to get more literature out. So, he is somebody I

         24  care about very deeply, the BSA's gain is certainly

         25  our loss. And, you know, Chris has been just
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          2  constantly accessible to me in every place I've been

          3  in my political and private life in the City.

          4  Whenever I needed help, advice, him to stay longer,

          5  him to work with my staff, I cannot think of a time

          6  that Chris Collins has said no to me. When I've

          7  asked him to meet with staff to train them, to teach

          8  them on Land Use, he has never said no. And every

          9  victory we have had on Land Use in my Council

         10  district, I know for a fact would never have

         11  happened without Chris Collins's help.

         12                 I'm really tremendously in your debt.

         13  I'm so glad that we are friends and neighbors and

         14  that will continue when you're at the BSA, you'll

         15  still have to give me off-the-record advice even

         16  when you're at the BSA on non-BSA matters. I wish

         17  you and Bob the best of luck, and give 'em hell at

         18  the BSA.

         19                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Chair of the

         21  Housing and Buildings Committee, Council Member

         22  Provenzano.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         24                 I really I guess at this point just

         25  want to say ditto to what Jimmy Oddo and Chris said,
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          2  particularly Jimmy. I go back a long way with Chris,

          3  long before I was Chair of Housing. And I think one

          4  of the points Jimmy made is kind of our connection

          5  with all the rezoning and stuff that's been going on

          6  in Staten Island and the Bronx. You certainly were

          7  there and kept us up on what was going on. Most of

          8  the time I was totally, you know, didn't know what

          9  was going on, and without you, I would have been

         10  lost.

         11                 I know you'll be greatly missed by

         12  Land Use, and I thought I would see Gale -- well,

         13  she probably is off some place crying. Where is she?

         14  Oh, okay, there you are, weeping, I know. You have

         15  certainly been a wonderful asset to the Council.

         16                 The only thing that I missed in your

         17  background, and you know, I didn't know,

         18  professional dancer/singer/actor.

         19                 MR. COLLINS: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I noticed

         21  that in this little red book that tells all your

         22  deep, dark secrets.

         23                 MR. COLLINS: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And since

         25  we have so many people that want to speak, I won't
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          2  ask it, but I would like a little performance,

          3  little soft shoe or something.

          4                 MR. COLLINS: We can arrange that

          5  later. I'll be happy to do some time steps for you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay. But

          7  I wish you only the best, and even though I am

          8  retiring as of the end of the year, there's is lots

          9  of BSA stuff going on and what I will always

         10  consider in my district, so you may actually be

         11  hearing from me. Good luck.

         12                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you. And thank you

         13  for the tour of City Island a couple of years ago.

         14  It's one of the most fascinating places in the City.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Chair of the

         16  Committee on Public Housing, Council Member Diana

         17  Reyna.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 I just wanted to take an opportunity

         21  to echo enormous words that have been said about

         22  Chris. Where would my district be today if it hadn't

         23  been for Chris. Just taking the time, as everyone

         24  has said to be accessible, to me individually and to

         25  my community, and for that I will always treasure
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          2  who you are and what technical assistance you

          3  provide for this City.

          4                 I know that my community is in good

          5  hands or better hands now that you're becoming part

          6  of the BSA community. It's an agency that I want to

          7  have the faith and hope that they will not continue

          8  to destroy communities. Knowing that you're going

          9  there is certainly a calming feeling that I perhaps

         10  would share with my colleagues here today.

         11                 I also just wanted to thank you for

         12  your extraordinary honesty. You're a man of great

         13  attributes, and I know wherever you'll be, not just

         14  at BSA, you can count on me as an individual, as a

         15  friend. And I look forward to working with you in

         16  making sure that we're red flagging all those

         17  variances in East Williamsburg, because that's where

         18  we're going to need you the most.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: As we continue

         22  the lovefest, we have four more members that want to

         23  speak. I'm just curious, and I just wanted to note

         24  that the head of the Land Use Division is in the

         25  room, Gail Benjamin, and there are many friends of
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          2  Chris in the room who I'm not going to name, but

          3  there are many staffers who are in the room who are

          4  here to see or appointed, and it's good to know that

          5  you have many people that care about you, Chris.

          6                 Next we'll hear from the Chair of

          7  Sanitation Committee, Council Member McMahon.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman. And thank you for allowing us to speak

         10  at this hearing. I'll be very brief because I think

         11  most of it's been covered. But I just want to

         12  emphasize what's been said, through a simple word or

         13  words, which is colleague and collegiality. And

         14  there's been a lot of talk about members who kind of

         15  crossed over from the staff member status, and

         16  there's a feeling I think when it comes to you,

         17  Chris, that no one is a member, no one is a staff

         18  member. Sometimes there's sort of an inherent bias,

         19  the members think they're all it or the staff

         20  members think they're all it, but certainly with the

         21  Land Use Division, with you and Gail, there's such a

         22  sense of collegiality that I think we're all happy

         23  just to call you colleague, and to say to you,

         24  brother colleague, we wish you all the best at BSA.

         25                 And I advise you when you go over
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          2  there, I don't have to advise you, you know, to make

          3  sure that you get the portfolio that covers Chelsea

          4  and Staten Island, because we'll all be there many

          5  times continuing the fights for those neighborhoods

          6  and all of the City of New York.

          7                 We owe you a great debt of gratitude.

          8  You left a very serious impression or stamp on this

          9  City and you'll continue to do so.

         10                 Good luck, colleague.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next we'll hear

         12  from Majority Leader Joel Rivera.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Chair.

         15                 First, I want to disagree with all of

         16  my colleagues. I object to you leaving us. We want

         17  to keep you here as long as we can. So, I apologize

         18  in deference to my colleagues, but we want to keep

         19  you here.

         20                 That being said, I mean, it is a very

         21  proud moment when we can put forward someone of your

         22  stature to such a prominent position as the BSA

         23  Commissioner. We vote here, you know, time and time

         24  again on candidates for different positions, and

         25  they are all qualified, obviously since they pass
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          2  our, get our approval. But seeing someone like you

          3  that I've known for the past four years, I know of

          4  your history here in the Council, and I know of your

          5  history and your background in the community, it

          6  really is a proud and honorable moment when we can

          7  sit here and say that Chris Collins is by far one of

          8  the best people we could ever appoint to such a

          9  prominent position.

         10                 So, I want to say thank you for your

         11  service that you provided to us in the City Council,

         12  especially to the freshmen members who needed help

         13  on learning to deal with the nuances of the Land Use

         14  issues in the City of New York, and thank you for

         15  your service to the City. God bless you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         17  Gale Brewer, Chair of the Technology Committee.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         19  much. I also want to echo the sentiments and to say

         20  that Chris Collins is an example to me of the best

         21  in public service. Because not only does he fit the

         22  professional role in terms of Land Use, but he's

         23  done it for many years.

         24                 I first knew him because we served

         25  together as staff members in the City Council in the
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          2  early 1980s, and I know that there are many things

          3  in that book, but what perhaps gives him the ability

          4  to carry on so eloquently and so professionally, is

          5  both being the Chair of a Community Board 8, and

          6  then also Chair of his co-op. Because those two

          7  roles are perhaps more difficult than the BSA or

          8  being in the City Council. And the fact of the

          9  matter is he has managed to do all of those roles. I

         10  know when he was part of his co-op discussion, they

         11  were one of the first buildings in the City to think

         12  of ways of having low-cost, efficient technology,

         13  and I also asked him about that, in terms of what

         14  worked.

         15                 Accessibility to me is the heart of

         16  government, is the heart of good government, and the

         17  fact of the matter is, that word goes hand-in-hand

         18  with Chris Collins. In addition to being intelligent

         19  and knowing his profession, he is able to share that

         20  with the people of the City of New York. And there

         21  is no greater public servant. Good luck.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Finance Chair

         23  David Weprin.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair. I, too, want to join in the collective
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          2  accolades of our distinguished staffer Chris

          3  Collins. I have seen Chris on quite a few occasions

          4  in Queens County and I know at various forums late

          5  into the night where he was representing the

          6  Council, and at the request of various civic

          7  associations and community boards, and did not

          8  hesitate to come into Queens late at night and to

          9  really be an excellent resource on issues of concern

         10  and issues pending before the day. And as my

         11  colleagues have said, he is the ultimate

         12  professional, a man who commands great knowledge but

         13  is very modest in his dealings and treats everyone

         14  with tremendous respect. And I, for one, am

         15  disappointed that he will be leaving us, but I know

         16  one of the major complaints of my constituents are

         17  some of the actions of the Board of Standards and

         18  Appeals. There has been a general perception that

         19  they basically constantly overrule the Community

         20  Boards on almost every instance, and I know there

         21  has been some change recently but certainly more

         22  than anything else it will be very refreshing to

         23  have an ear, to have someone that we can contact

         24  directly that knows the concerns of the various

         25  communities in this City, and I know you will take
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          2  your responsibilities very seriously and I know we

          3  will have an open ear to our issues and issues of

          4  our constituents. And I want to join my colleagues

          5  in supporting the nomination of Chris Collins.

          6                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The Chair of Fire

          8  and Criminal Justice, Council Member Clarke, who

          9  shall be the last person speaking at this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 I just didn't want to feel left out.

         13  But just really to say, Chris, I haven't had an

         14  opportunity to interact with you to the level of my

         15  colleagues. I didn't have many Land Use matters.

         16  That's not to say there won't be any in the future,

         17  which is why I felt compelled to speak to you right

         18  now, is I know how important a role that this Board

         19  plays in the City in its shaping, and from listening

         20  to my colleagues and our interactions, I know that

         21  you're a man of conscience, and I know that you're a

         22  diligent man, and I hope that you will take that

         23  with you to the Board, because in a way you're

         24  crossing over into unchartered territories, and as

         25  you said, you will be on the other side of that
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          2  gavel. And I think that all that has been said about

          3  you today is indeed a tribute to the man that you

          4  are. And I hope that the environment that you move

          5  into strengthens you in that resolve and I wish you

          6  well.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, now

          9  that we've had this lovefest, Chris, I guess it's my

         10  turn.

         11                 I must say that I'm impressed that

         12  you, as well as Mr. Soumas have had no problems that

         13  our Committee, who is very thorough, had found.

         14  You've both been excellent stewards of your service

         15  here in the City, no tickets, no anything, you know,

         16  that's another reason to be impressed with you. Now,

         17  clearly you have been able to be City residents and

         18  not have any traffic tickets, which is impressive in

         19  and of itself. But I have to say that, also,

         20  personally, Chris, I have been honored by your

         21  vision and your focus and your intelligence and your

         22  wit in the past four years.  In Land Use Committee

         23  meetings, which can be very heated and intense,

         24  you've always had a stoic and focused and calm

         25  demeanor. Those times when I've seen you in between
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          2  people that are arguing and being very aggressive

          3  over a point, you've always been a center of calm.

          4  I'm going to miss your ties. I don't know how we're

          5  going to do in the tie contest next year, because,

          6  you know, I'm not part of that group, but you're one

          7  of the people that people try to focus their ties

          8  around, especially during the season. And I didn't

          9  get a good look at today's tie, but I'm sure it's

         10  somewhere in that season. And also in the style and

         11  class, you've been also one of the sharpest dressers

         12  in the Council. So, I'm going to have to see how

         13  that falls out in terms of next year.

         14                 But clearly, you've been an asset to

         15  the Council, you've been an asset to the City, and

         16  I'm proud to know that you're going to BSA where you

         17  will continue to be a beacon of light there to make

         18  sure that this City is well represented and that

         19  proper justice is done for all neighborhoods in this

         20  City.

         21                 And I know that you probably better

         22  than other commissioners will understand the

         23  diversity and complexity of the City of New York.

         24  And I'm proud to recommend to my members that you be

         25  elected to Commissioner of BSA, and I hope that you
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          2  can serve there for many years in the capacity that

          3  I know will be fruitful to the residents of New York

          4  City.

          5                 So, with that, I would like to call

          6  the roll.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Comrie.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on both.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: First with the

         13  commercial announcement. If you're on the Health

         14  Committee, stay in this room. We're going to meet in

         15  here. And then with tremendous gratitude and an

         16  equal level of pride, I vote aye on both of you, in

         17  particular my good friend Chris.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye on both.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye on all, and

         22  congratulations to you both of you, especially

         23  Chris. Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I would like
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          2  to say aye on both.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:

          5  Congratulations, Chris. I'm sure we're going to be

          6  seeing a lot of you at BSA, and aye on all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'd like to vote

          9  aye on both, with a special congratulations to

         10  Chris, and to Bob and to your brother Bill who is

         11  here today. I hope they can all deal with you after

         12  this lovefest. Just remember, don't take it home.

         13                 So, I want to congratulate you, and

         14  aye on all.

         15                 I believe this is also the last

         16  meeting of the Rules Committee, before the end of

         17  the year. So, I would like to congratulate the Chair

         18  on all of the great work that he has done in his

         19  tenure here a Chair of the Land Use Committee.

         20                 It has been an honor to serve with

         21  you over this last four years.

         22                 Aye on all.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: He's trying to

         25  start the Finance Committee because we're very late
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          2  today, so we'll keep the vote open.

          3                 Oh, there he is.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: There is so much

          7  love in the air today right now it makes me sick.

          8  No. Aye on both. And Mr. Gregory, I guess timing is

          9  everything in live, huh?

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 11 in the

         11  affirmative, zero in the negative and no abstention,

         12  both items are adopted. Council Members please sign

         13  the Committee Report. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Finance Committee

         15  in the next room now. Most of the members here on

         16  the Finance Committee, they need a quorum to vote.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, and the

         18  Health Committee, just stay right here and we're

         19  going to get started.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 12:18 p.m.)
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